
 

City of Corunna 
Regular Council Meeting 

Monday, November 1, 2010 
 

Present: Kerridge, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins, Reichert.  
 
Absent: None. 
 
Guests: Joe Sawyer, City Manager; Judy Horton; Tim Crawford, Superintendent of Public 

Works; Merilee Lawson, City Assessor/Planner; Dan Tomlinson; Gary Arnold, C2AE; 
Donna Kerridge; Lonny Latunski; Steve Kirnovic, Abraham & Gaffney; Julie Mattera, 
The Argus Press; Helen Granger, The Independent; and other concerned citizens. 

 
The meeting was called to order in the council chambers of Corunna City Hall by Mayor Kerridge at  

7:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS REGULAR MEETING:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to  

approve the previous regular meeting minutes dated October 18, 2010 as presented. 
Roll call vote: 

 Yes:  Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson, Reichert, Mehigh.  
 No:  None. 
 Abstain: Haskins. 
    Motion CARRIED 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS SPECIAL MEETING:  Jessen moved, Sarrazin seconded to  
 approve the previous special meeting minutes dated October 27, 2010 as presented. 
 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL:  Sarrazin moved, Reichert seconded to approve the agenda as presented  

with the addition of Item No. 3) Discussion on North Shiawassee Street Traffic Engineering 
and USDA/RD Update and Item No. 4) Discussion on Agenda Procedures. 

 Roll call vote: 
Yes: Johnson, Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

  
APPROVAL OF VENDOR DISBURSEMENTS:  Johnson moved, Reichert seconded to approve the  

vendor disbursements dated October 28, 2010 as presented.     
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Haskins, Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson. 
No: None.   

 Motion CARRIED 
CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Judy Horton stated she was pleasantly surprised that the ghost tour in the  



 

 Village was so successful.  There were 400 tickets sold and the village made about $1,100. 
 
PRESENTATION OF 2009/2010 AUDIT:  Steve Kirnovic, Abraham & Gaffney, reviewed the  

2009/2010 audit.  He advised the audit went very smooth and there were no significant 
changes.  He thanked the city hall staff for all of their help.  He further advised the city 
received a clean and unqualified opinion, which is the best possible opinion someone can get.  
He also advised the city is in good financial condition as of June 30, 2010.  Johnson moved, 
Jessen seconded to accept the audit for 2009/2010 as presented.   
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Reichert, Mehigh, Jessen, Sarrazin, Johnson, Haskins. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER ADVANCE FOR COMMUNITY CENTER IMPROVEMENTS:  Joe Sawyer explained  

the first phase of the donation led construction has been completed.  The committee to save 
the community center is ready to start fundraising again.  The Parks and Recreation 
Commission is requesting another $50,000 advance with the recognition that it might take 
four years to pay it back with a goal to pay it back sooner.  He further explained the next 
phase will finish what was started and will include remodeling the upper level bathrooms to 
handicap accessibility, insulating the lower level ceiling, hanging and painting drywall.  The 
mayor has volunteered to make sure everything stays on track.  Dan Tomlinson thanked the 
council for what they have done in the past, the mayor for the work he has done and the 
committee for all of their hard work in raising funds.  He advised people want to see more 
progress.  Most of the work done has been internal and they want to see finished work.  He 
advised the cash calendars bring in roughly $10,000 per year.  He further advised the 
commission does not want to see the work stop.  Mr. Sawyer advised there has been a lot of 
discussion between the committee and commission about the amount needed.  There is about 
$25,000 needed to do the finish work, but there is about $25,000 worth of infrastructure 
repairs that have to be done before the finish work can get done.  He further advised the 
majority of the work would start after the Christmas events are done.  Mayor Kerridge 
advised there is a lot of work to be done.  People want to know what has been done before 
they donate more money.  People do not understand what has already been done especially 
women.  Mr. Sawyer stated he was going to let the mayor deal with that comment.  Helen 
Granger advised there will be triple quotes around that comment.  Mayor Kerridge tried to 
explain that women did not see the concrete that was put in the footing drains.  Councilperson 
Jessen told the mayor he was digging the hole deeper and to quit while he was ahead.  
Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to approve the advance of $50,000 for the community center 
to be paid back over a four year period.  Councilperson Jessen congratulated everyone who 
had a part in paying back the first advance and for the work that has been done.  He asked 
what percentage of the overall project would be completed with the next $50,000 advance.  
Mr. Sawyer advised probably half and the committee is aware that there will not be any future 
advances until the current amount is paid back.  The next phase will be more accommodating 
to volunteer labor, which the first phase was not.  He is confident that the ramp system will be 
finished, the east wall of the building will be finished from top to the lower level, the 
insulation and walls in the lower level will be finished except for new flooring.  The upper 
level bathrooms should be completed, but nothing will be done to the lower level bathrooms.  



 

The next project after the second phase is done will be the lower level bathrooms, kitchen 
improvements and a new roof.  There is still life in the current roof, but an insulated roof will 
allow rooftop furnace and air conditioning systems.  Councilperson Sarrazin asked if this 
$50,000 will get the building to a point that it can be rented for other activities in order to get 
rent revenue.  Mr. Sawyer advised it will be in much better shape to rent separately absent 
major kitchen needs in the lower level.  It will be more desirable for an accessibility stand 
point, but many of the activities that will generate higher rents will need to be addressed with 
future legislation.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated everyone knows that $50,000 will last about 
90 days.  Mr. Sawyer stated he expects the money to be spent by the end of the current budget 
year.  Judy Horton stated a lot of the council has made a complete switch from voting uh uh to 
uh huh.  She asked council to talk about it because the more they talk the more people will 
know that the council is behind it.  It will be easier to raise funds and if she has to, she 
probably can come up with some more money.  Mr. Sawyer stated if there are future grant 
opportunities the city will apply for them.  Councilperson Haskins asked if the appliances 
work okay.  Ms. Horton advised they are old but they function and she would like to see other 
things done before the kitchen gets done.  Mayor Kerridge advised the building is very secure 
and well-constructed.  There were two layers of brick and not one.  There is an inner layer of 
brick and a layer of glazed brick so there are actually three layers.  Mr. Sawyer reported there 
has not been a drop of water in the lower level.          
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Jessen, Johnson, Reichert, Mehigh, Sarrazin, Haskins. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
DISCUSSION ON NORTH SHIAWASSEE STREET TRAFFICE ENGINEERING AND USDA/RD  

UPDATE:  Mr. Sawyer gave a history of the North Shiawassee Street intersection which 
dates back to 2002.  He advised when the striping was redone on the Caledonia Charter 
Township side of the intersection to create a left turn only lane, it changed how the 
intersection functions and created the goofy bumped out transition lane that everybody hates.  
Gary Arnold, C2AE, explained when there is no left hand turn control there needs to be head 
up left turn lanes that need to match up with the one across from the view.  On the city’s side 
of M-21, a dedicated left hand turn lane had to be created and there were two ways to do this; 
by signing it or painting it which is the safest way to go.  He advised the intersection was left 
as it is in the proposed three lane street design.  He is not trying to advocate a three lane street 
versus a four lane street, but it will save money on future pavement paving and will allow 
room for a sidewalk.  He further advised as far as traffic volume, 18,000 cars per day are 
needed to substantiate a four lane street and Corunna has about 10,000 cars per day.  It makes 
more sense to eliminate the switch over and dedicate a left hand turn lane through the whole 
section because it will save the city money and create a safer situation.  He stated again that 
the intersection is not being changed.  He also advised the width for a non-motorized two way 
walk path has to be a minimum of eight feet, but if MDOT is funding the project, they want a 
10 foot width.  Since this project is not MDOT funded, the width can be eight feet.  
Councilperson Sarrazin stated he does not like letting two lanes come southbound from State 
Road and it should be like the city’s northbound where we have a through lane and a turn 
lane.  The township has a through/turn lane and a through lane which can cause a pickle when 
someone comes southbound from State Road to Shiawassee Street.  The township has two 



 

lanes that can advance straight through which makes a pickle right there because of the 
transition.  If that traffic was forced to turn like the northbound lane does he thought it would 
alleviate some of this garble in front of D & G Equipment.  Mr. Arnold advised there will be 
two signs placed that will inform someone who is going southbound from State Road that the 
lane is going to end and to merge left.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated he did not see the 
proposed signage listed on the proposed construction drawing.  Mr. Arnold advised on the 
south side of M-21 the sign will have a symbol showing the lane is merging.  He further 
advised this is standard MDOT marking.  Mr. Sawyer stated he put this item on the last 
agenda to get the word out to the public so people can start expressing their concerns because 
you can never talk about converting four lanes to three lanes without getting someone’s ire up 
a little bit.  Most people prefer a four lane street even though traffic engineers consider a three 
lane street a safer way to go.  It is wonderful to have conversation now and not after the 
construction has already begun, which is what he wanted to avoid.  Lonny Latunski stated that 
intersection has always been difficult and there have been a lot of accidents there.  The 
configuration there today came at the request of the City of Corunna and Caledonia Charter 
Township in order to get a turn phase light placed at the intersection which no one has been 
successful in getting.  The city and township requested a left turn phase light there because 
traffic was backing up and they wanted better movement at the intersection.  The first thing 
MDOT said was there would be no left turn phase light without the left turn lanes lining up 
with one another.  In order to match the configuration the city has, the intersection was striped 
as it is today.  The city manager and mayor at that time were informed that three lanes were 
going to be placed on State Road in front of Meijers in order to help with the turning 
movement there and asked if the city would consider changing the intersection to three lanes 
that would have lined up center of the intersection instead of the little arbitrary design that is 
there.  His office was trying to restripe the roadway so that there would be one lane heading 
south, one lane heading north and a left turn lane, but that did not go well.  Ultimately, the 
north side of the intersection was built to accommodate what was already there.  If the double 
lane going south became one lane, it could be marked and signed as right turn only because it 
is a very short lane.  He spoke to MDOT’s traffic engineer today and if there was ever a 
concept of putting two lanes north and south to get rid of the bump out and dedicated left turn 
lane then they would have a real problem with it because there is a case sign that hangs on the 
signal that states left turn only.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated he was talking about 
eliminating the straight through lane on the west side and not the left turn lanes.  Mr. Latunski 
stated he would not have a problem with that if the city wants to get rid of the double lane 
concept south of the intersection.  It would take adding signage and marking the roadway to 
designate that area as a right turn lane only.  He stated he agrees with the three lane concept 
because it is going to minimize and reduce accidents.  The city’s downtown area and bridge is 
three lanes and it makes sense to make North Shiawassee Street three lanes to the light.  Mr. 
Sawyer stated there have been concerns expressed about the Sleeseman Drive area and how 
the three lane street will hinder semi truck traffic coming from that drive.  Councilperson 
Sarrazin stated the 53 foot truck drivers get in the east bound lane and stop until they can turn 
onto Sleeseman Drive because the turn radius is not big enough.  Mr. Sawyer stated changing 
the turn radius going into Sleeseman Drive should take care of this issue.  He further stated 
there was a time when a request was made to install a traffic light at the Sleeseman 
intersection, but the warrant analysis that was done did not demonstrate a need.  Mr. Latunski 
stated he looked at the proposed design and there is an eight foot paved area adjacent to the 



 

single lane and that along with a radius adjustment should allow the trucks to turn.  They are 
still not going to stay in their lane because not all truck drivers can handle corners.  
Councilperson Sarrazin stated he agreed that there would be an additional eight feet and if the 
turning radius can be adjusted it should improve it.           

   
Mr. Sawyer advised the USDA/RD project will replace the sewer main on North Shiawassee 
Street and move the lift station to the Sleeseman Drive area.  Gary Arnold stated he wished he 
knew where the city was at with the rural development.  Bids were supposed to go out this 
week and the city was supposed to close by the end of the year in order to get the interest 
rebate.  The area specialist assigned to the city is fairly new and she asked for a copy of the 
water and sewer agreements the city has in place with Owosso.  A copy was mailed to her and 
it was submitted to their attorney to review.  The attorney has a problem with the agreements 
and they now want four changes made to each agreement which include the following; the 
agreement should run 40 years from the time of closing and they want a 40 year addendum, 
the agreement should be freely assignable without restrictions, services should be shared 
proportionally between Owosso and Corunna, the agreement should be subject to present and 
future RD regulations while there is an outstanding RD loan balance but he does not know of 
anybody who would sign this.  He further stated he is going to try to set up a meeting so see 
what can be done about this.  Rural Development financed a sewer rehab project a few years 
ago under the same agreements that were in place then that they do not like now.  Ms. 
Lawson stated she has an issue with this since they knew from day one that the city had 
agreements with Owosso and this should have been on the table at the beginning and not at 
the end.  Mr. Sawyer advised rural development thinks the city has all the time in the world, 
but the city is trying to take advantage of the Build America Bonds that is part of the federal 
stimulus program in order to get some interest rebate and December 31 is the timeline.  
However, the IRS has yet to rule on how they are going to administer the tax treatment.  Mr. 
Arnold advised they do not expect to rule on it until sometime in 2011.  Mr. Sawyer advised 
the IRS may rule that they will only give the tax rebate on the money that has been drawn 
before December 31.   Ms. Lawson stated the good thing in all of this is the city now has 
water and sewer easements that it has not had for 20 years.  Councilperson Sarrazin asked if 
an addendum can be added to the water and sewer agreements.  Mr. Sawyer advised there 
could be language added that does not make the city renegotiate the rates.  Ms. Lawson stated 
language could be put in that any future rural development changes would only apply to 
Corunna.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated Owosso would sign the agreement today if the city 
will give them another 40 years at the same deal.  Councilperson Haskins asked what the 
worst case scenario would be if they wanted an open ended agreement.  Mr. Arnold advised 
the only thing he could think of is if one of the two communities would go bankrupt and there 
is a new successor or owner.  Ms. Lawson advised the sewer agreement states as long as the 
sewer plant is in operation.  Mr. Sawyer advised the base term of the water agreement expires 
in 11 years but it can be renewed.            

 
DISCUSSION ON AGENDA PROCEDURES:  Mr. Sawyer explained the difference between the 

pre-agenda procedures and post agenda procedures.  Once council has made a vote and the 
meeting is over, the mayor by the city charter has the ability to veto any action taken by the 
council.  There have been times where the council has requested the mayor to veto an action 
so council did not have to reverse themselves which has never been challenged.  He further 



 

explained to bring an issue back for discussion it has nothing to do with who made and 
supported the motion.  The criteria for bringing something back to the table is whoever is on 
the winning side of the vote can bring something back for consideration.  He also explained if 
anyone is uncomfortable with an issue or feel more time is needed, a motion to table the issue 
can be made at any time.  Councilperson Johnson advised this is something that has been 
done.  Mr. Sawyer stated nobody should feel guilty about doing it because it is very rare that 
action is needed at the time something is being discussed.  Councilperson Jessen stated he 
thought this has come up before.  From what he remembers, if a motion does not pass the only 
way to bring it back up is if someone who voted negatively brought it back to the floor.  Mr. 
Sawyer advised it has to be someone on the winning side in order to bring something back for 
reconsideration.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated it would have to be brought up by one of the 
no voters so Councilperson Jessen would be correct.  Councilperson Sarrazin further stated 
the issue was published in the newspaper that it was going to be discussed and a vote was 
taken based on the opinion of a professional engineer.  It was not until after a vote was taken 
that people started saying it was terrible.  He advised the people he talked to that they could 
have come to the meeting, but they do not come or say anything until after a vote is taken.  
Councilperson Reichert stated he would like to see the pre-council meeting go away and have 
an item discussed twice before a vote is taken.  The item would be discussed at one meeting 
which will give people in the audience the time to hear it and approach the council before any 
action is taken on it.  A vote would then be taken at the second meeting which will give the 
council and the community time to research it.  He is suggesting that this be done on 
everything but time sensitive items.  He thought it would work well and would allow the 
council the time to digest everything that was talked about and would allow the community 
members a chance to give their input.  Mr. Sawyer suggested making a motion to table 
something to give council the time to discuss an item further.  He stated council has the right 
to make a motion on anything they want.  Councilperson Johnson stated she felt the pre-
council was needed because she has come to a meeting many times thinking that she was 
going to vote one way and after discussing the issue she changed her mind.  She finds that it 
is good for the council to do and she would definitely vote no to take it away because it is 
something the council needs to do.  Mr. Sawyer stated pre-council is not a discussion period; 
it is a presentation period where he gives council a report on an item, but it does not give the 
council an opportunity to discuss it.  Councilperson Johnson stated there has never been a 
problem since she has been on the council.  Councilperson Reichert stated he thought an item 
should be discussed at two meetings before a decision is made on it.  Mr. Sawyer stated it 
could be treated like an ordinance where it is introduced at one meeting and voted on at the 
next meeting.  Councilperson Reichert stated he was suggesting talking about an item at the 
first meeting of the month and taking action on it at the second meeting which would give the 
council the time to investigate it.  Councilperson Jessen stated there are times when 
something can wait two weeks.  Councilperson Johnson stated the city manager usually tells 
the council if action is needed or not.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated when the city manager 
brings an item to the council he knows the item inside and out and gives the council a five 
minute rendition.  Sometimes it is overwhelming, but the council has faith the city manager 
because he knows what he is talking about.  Councilperson Sarrazin further stated if anyone 
on the council says they want to table something that mechanism will work.  Councilperson 
Haskins stated it is only a two week time period.  Councilperson Reichert stated he was 
totally comfortable with the decision that he made at the last meeting, but he received some 



 

phone calls that raised some questions.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated the council came to the 
same conclusion tonight about North Shiawassee Street that it did two weeks ago.   

 
CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Judy Horton stated years ago and up until six or seven months ago there 

used to be a little blurb in the newspaper that told what was going to be discussed at the 
council meeting.  Councilperson Sarrazin stated we still do.  Ms. Horton advised she has not 
seen it in quite some time.  Linda LeCureux advised the agenda is emailed to the newspaper 
the Friday before the meeting.  Ms. Horton advised it does not get printed.   

 
 Donna Kerridge stated she would like to know where the people are who made the phone 

calls. 
 
 Merilee Lawson thanked Chuck Kerridge for all of the work he is doing and is going to do at 

the community center. 
 
 Helen Granger thanked the council for the decision they made regarding the three lanes on 

North Shiawassee Street.  She is very pleased as a resident of the community. 
 
ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION:  Councilperson Mehigh advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 
 Councilperson Jessen advised he had nothing to discuss. 

 
Councilperson Sarrazin advised he had nothing to discuss.   

 
 Councilperson Johnson advised she had nothing to discuss. 
 
 Councilperson Haskins advised he had nothing to discuss. 
 

Councilperson Reichert advised he came across a lot of homes last night with a lot of 
disappointed candy passers.  There were a number of people in town who were clearly not 
city residents.  He had his in-laws passing out candy and over 600 pieces of candy was passed 
out which is twice the number normally in town.  He suggested that council pass a motion 
asking the City of Owosso not to do that again.   
 
Mayor Kerridge advised there were 219 kids under the age of 12 years old and close to 300 
kids at the community center last night.  At least 200 kids were there at the same time and the 
community center was packed.  He thanked Janine Kingsbury for decorating the community 
center because it looked phenomenal.  He advised he would not be at the next council meeting 
because it is his annual vacation. 

ADJOURN:  Jessen moved, Johnson seconded to adjourn. 
 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Reichert, Jessen, Sarrazin, Haskins, Mehigh, Johnson. 

No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED  Time was 8:46 p.m.     
 

 



 

 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Charles Kerridge, Mayor    Linda M. LeCureux, Deputy Clerk 
 


